

INNOVATIVE LEADERS & LEADING INNOVATION

A THEORETICAL & PRACTICAL ANALYSIS





MAY 2019

iOpener Institute for People & Performance

An iOpener Institute Research Paper Researched and written by: Clementine Collett, Jordan Graham and Julia Lindsay

iOpener Institute for People & Performance May 2019 | Innovative leaders & leading innovation



CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	2
METHODOLOGY	3
 CONCEIVING THE FUTURE CREATIVELY 1.1 Open culture: energy, support and lowering hierarchies 1.2 Practical creativity 1.3 Perceiving constraints as opportunities 	4 5 7 8
 2. INTEGRATING KNOWLEDGE: GROWTH AND COLLABORATION 2.1 Knowledge growth: breadth and depth 2.2 Internal collboration and diversity 2.3 External collboration and open innovation 	9 9 11 14
3. EMBODYING PARADOX: LEADERSHIP FLEXIBILITY 3.1 Balancing speed with long term goals 3.2 Exploring versus exploiting	16 16 17
4. FAILING TO RISK AND RISKING FAILURE4.1 Resisting the 'tried and tested'4.2 Celebrating and learning from failure	19 20 20
CONCLUSION	23
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	24
BIBLIOGRAPHY	25

INNOVATIVE LEADERS & LEADING INNOVATION

A THEORETICAL & PRACTICAL ANALYSIS

Our work on leadership development has highlighted how difficult it is for leaders to effectively harness innovation. Innovation relies on the interdependence of certain ways of thinking, particular behaviors and specific forms of knowledge-integration. The dynamic tension that this creates can generate innovative gold dust, but can also be a challenge to navigate.

This research paper will explore how leadership fits into the puzzle of innovation. It will critically examine existing literature on the topic of innovation and leadership and analyze key take-aways from 5 interviews which we conducted with experts from industry and academia. These resources will be exploited to highlight the main themes which shape the way that leadership and innovation coalesce in practice:

- 1. Conceiving the future creatively
- 2. Integrating knowledge: growth and collaboration
- 3. Embodying paradox: leadership flexibility
- 4. Failing to risk and risking failure

In the spirit of bridging the knowing-doing gap, something we're always focused on, these sections will use the literature and interviews to highlight the ways in which leadership and innovation coalesce in practice.

INTRODUCTION

In 2008, McKinsey did a survey on innovation and leadership. It included 600 managers and professionals. The report noticed that the top 2 motivators of behaviors which promoted innovation were:

- Strong leaders who encouraged and protected it.
- Top executives who spent their time actively managing and driving it (Barsh et al., 2008).

Over a decade later in 2019, innovation is still the hot topic on everyone's mind. In January 2019, the Harvard Business Review published an article on *The Hard Truth About Innovative Cultures* (Pisano, 2019) which acknowledged the difficulty in creating and sustaining innovative cultures. And as recently as March 2019, London Business School shared their insights into the 5 keys to unlock innovation (Dore, 2019).

Whether it is radical innovation that changes the nature of the whole business, or incremental innovation taking place in small steps, it is clear that leaders play a huge role in driving it (Barsh et al., 2008; Bessant, 2009).

An industrial survey of 204 articles, 94 surveys and 7 interviews assessed how the software industry defined innovation (Edison et al., 2013). They decided that the most complete definition was given by Crossan and Apaydin (2010):

"Innovation is production or adoption, assimilation, and exploitation of a valueadded novelty in economic and social spheres; renewal and enlargement of products, services, and markets; development of new methods of production; and the establishment of new management systems. It is both a process and an outcome."

(Crossan and Apaydin, 2010: 1155)

This amorphous and messy definition of innovation is one that we will employ throughout this research paper. In an organizational context, innovation is both a process and an outcome. It can take the form of changing products and services or altering the structure and values of the organization (Prasad et al., 2016). Whatever shape innovation takes though, it is instrumental for the continued success of every organization.

Innovation is certainly associated with improved economic performance (Carmeli et al., 2011), but what exactly does it look like to be an innovative organization? And how can leaders work with their employees and organizations to create an innovative environment? Currently "it is unclear which leadership approaches are the strongest predictors because the literature has largely failed to examine the relative contribution of different leadership values" (Hughes et al., 2018: 564).

This research paper will explore how leadership fits into the puzzle of innovation. It will critically examine existing literature on the topic of innovation and leadership and analyze key takeaways from 5 interviews which we conducted with experts from industry and academia. These resources will be exploited to highlight the main themes which shape the way that leadership and innovation coalesce in practice.

METHODOLOGY



Our methodology was established to ensure that we attributed equal weight to theoretical work and interviews. This helped us to bridge the knowing-doing gap by allowing us to grapple with the way theory works in practice.

- Literature Review. We started with a literature review covering the relationship between leadership and innovation. We initially found 2 overriding topics were present in the literature: knowledge-sharing and creativity.
- Interviews. Our interviewees were selected on the basis of their knowledge on the topic of innovation and their positions as leaders. We conducted 5 1-to-1 phone interviews

throughout February and March 2019. These interviews covered the relationship between innovation and leadership. Our interviewees were selected on the basis of their expert knowledge on the topic from the angle of industry and academia. These took place with the following people:

- Friederike Woermann-Seiger. Head of Global Talent Development at Roland Berger, a leading global consultancy with 2,400 employees working in 34 countries.
- Human Resources Director for an international company.
- Sandra Westmöller. Head of Global Talent Management at HELLA, a global leader in the automotive industry employing 40,000 members of staff over 35 countries.
- Dr Sionade Robinson. Associate Professor of Cass Business School, one of the top 5 business schools in the UK (Financial Times European Business School ranking 2018).
- **Professor Gina Neff.** Senior Research Fellow, Program Director of the DPhil in Information, Communication and the Social Sciences at the University of Oxford. Professor Neff studies innovation, the digital transformation of industries and how new technologies impact work.

During the interviews, they were all asked the same initial question: Would you be able to give a few key words or phrases about what an innovative organization looks like? Following this, the interviews were semi-structured and covered the following topics:

- Leadership skills related to innovation
- Innovative employees
- The link between creativity, knowledgesharing and innovation
- The importance of innovation
- Analysis. Through analyzing the content from the interviews and the literature review, we further distilled our initial topics of interest. This boiled down our focus to 4 themes which correspond to the 4 sections of this report:
- Conceiving the future creatively

- Integrating knowledge: growth and collaboration
- Embodying paradox: leadership flexibility
- Failing to risk and risking failure

1. CONCEIVING THE FUTURE CREATIVELY

Far from a nebulous concept, or something that appears ex nihilo, Margaret Boden, Research Professor of Cognitive Science at Sussex University, asserts that:

"Creativity is the ability to come up with ideas or artefacts that are new, surprising and valuable... grounded in everyday abilities such as conceptual thinking, perception, memory, and reflective self-criticism" (Boden, 1990: 1, emphasis added)

Defining creativity in this manner is significant. It signals that the foundation of creativity comes from cognitive qualities which many people exercise in their daily lives.

Despite the discrepancies when it comes to defining the term 'creativity', we will argue that creativity can be encompassed by leaders and their teams through a number of practical steps. Creativity can be amplified by embracing a combination of everyday cognitive and behavioral practices in the workplace.

Creativity is intensified by an open culture. This allows groups to work more cohesively. In addition, it is not just about thinking outside the box and perceiving things from different angles, but about taking practical steps to solve realworld problems and perceiving constraints as opportunities. Ultimately, this contributes to the generation of game-changing ideas that lead to products and outputs which have a scalable impact in the market. This kind of creativity plays an instrumental role in fostering innovation in the workplace.

To explore the relationship between creativity, innovation and leadership we will examine:

1.1. Open culture: energy, support and lowering hierarchies

- 1.2. Practical creativity
- 1.3. Perceiving constraints as opportunities

As we will continue to do throughout this paper, insights from our literature review are woven together with insights from the interviewees. Firstly, this will be applied to creativity in organizations and how leaders can foster creativity as they and their teams conceive the future.

After all, as argued by William Barnett, Professor of Business Leadership, Strategy, and Organizations at Stanford Business School: "our job in leading innovation is not to know the future, our job is to create the system that discovers that future" (Barnett, 2017).

1.1. OPEN CULTURE: ENERGY, SUPPORT AND LOWERING HIERARCHIES

Creative leaders are strategic leaders. And strategic leaders, in this volatile, uncertain, complex and ambiguous (VUCA) world, are the ones who will be adaptable and able to create an innovative culture for their team and organization.

Experts in organizational studies and researchers at Nord Universitet, Johannessen and Stokvik, argue that 'innovation leadership' itself is strongly dependent on creative leadership actions:

"...in the global knowledge economy, leadership has become more and more a question of promoting entrepreneurial actions in order to create creative energy fields that can generate enthusiasm and motivate the front line in relation to creativity and action" (Johannessen and Stokvik, 2018: 7)

They go on to say that innovation leadership should draw upon the creative potential that is spread throughout an organization in order to be "...concerned with bringing out the creativity of everyone who works in an organization" (ibid., 11).

Drawing out the creative instincts and potential of each member of the team is an important process for leaders to establish. This can be done by creating an open environment where people feel safe and supported to share their ideas without inhibition. Friederike Woermann-Seiger captured this in her interview. She said that for leaders it's "all about creating the right environment of trust and collaboration and really encouraging people to develop new thought". This can be hindered in an environment where a couple of people dominate. However, with the introduction of "democratic discussion processes" the environment can remain safe and open.

This was further expanded upon by Dr Sionade Robinson in her interview. Robinson spoke about two particular qualities which leaders can exhibit to harness creativity in their employees. We have labelled these qualities as 'kinetic' leadership and 'supportive' leadership:

- Kinetic leadership. Robinson talked about leaders who have high-energy when they enter a room. These leaders foster creative responses in their employees. They have what Robinson calls an *"energy-raising quality"*. Often people who have this ability to spark energy and joy are quite humorous, sometimes in a self-deprecating way. They allow opportunities for laughter which can act as a mechanism for inclusion and lowering of perceived status barriers that may inhibit participation. This helps teams to become cohesive and proactively energetic.
- Supportive leadership. Robinson also talked about the fact that "people have to be relaxed to be creative". It is the ability of leaders to create 'psychological safety': an atmosphere where people feel safe to put forward ideas, thoughts, or questions, even if they seem a little "crazy". Psychological safety acts as a supportive mechanism and it is enhanced when there is a reduction in perceived status between the leader and members of the team.

Robinson summarized these 2 aspects of leadership:

"A leader that is able...to create a safe environment or to mitigate status differences in different members of the group, or to use humor inclusively to warm the bonds...you'll be able to get some fresh perspectives on the table"

Overall, we can see that the leaders who employ humor, high-energy and create an environment of psychological safety often foster an inclusive, open and equal atmosphere. This helps facilitate

inputs from all members of the team and increases the chances that unique and useful ideas will spring onto the table.

Woermann-Seiger bolstered this point. She talked about how lowering hierarchies can import a more creative atmosphere. This means trading control and micro-managing for a more open way of approaching the members of your team. This requires leaders to listen and integrate members of the team into the solution.

One way to think about how to induce this kind of humorous, energetic and status-lowering leadership style might be to employ unconventional leadership styles. We see this suggested in relation to creativity by Jaussi and Dionne (2003). They talk about how unconventional leadership styles, such as standing on furniture and hanging ideas on clotheslines, allows members of the team to see these leaders as role models for creativity.

We can also see in social-exchange theory, that positive exchanges between leaders and followers results in followers seeking to repay favorable leader treatment (Martin and Thomas et al., 2016). This mechanism is bound to help lure any creative ideas out of employees. Inducing intrinsic motivation and generating team creativity comes from positively engaging employees with tasks and challenges.

Building on the importance of positive engagement, Barbara Frederickson's broadenand-build theory adds that there are 3 distinct components of positive emotions that compliment one another:

- Joy creates the urge to play.
- Interest creates the urge to explore.
- Contentment creates the urge to savour the present and "integrate these circumstances into new views of the self and of the world" (Frederickson, 2004).

If a leader can invoke these attributes within a team, creativity, which may lead to innovation, will also not be far away.

In terms of leaders creating a safe and supportive atmosphere, it is clear that this plays a big role in fostering innovation. Amabile et al. (2006) investigated perceived leader support (instrumental and socioemotional). It found that in 7 different companies, leader support was a key feature for fostering creativity.

We see a similar finding in a paper by Charalampos et al. (2015). They suggest that creative leadership refers to leading others toward the attainment of creative outcome.





Figure 1: A Multi-context framework of creative leadership (adapted from Charalampos et al 2015

As we can see from the model above (Charalampos et al., 2015, Figure 1) they argue that support is a big part of the facilitation of creativity:

"Supportive contributions are rarely seen as creative contributions themselves, but they play a crucial role in triggering, enabling, and sustaining creative thinking and behavior..." (Charalampos et al., 2015: 400)

This includes psychological, social and material support. The result of this is that there is not 1 sole creator; it is the supportive contribution of many that leads to a creative output.

1.2. PRACTICAL CREATIVITY

"Creativity and innovation at work are the process, outcomes, and products of attempts to develop and introduce new and improved ways of doing things. The creativity stage of this process refers to idea generation, and innovation to the subsequent stage of implementing ideas toward better procedures, practices, or products. Creativity and innovation...will invariably result in identifiable benefits" (Anderson et al. 2014: 1298)

It is clear that Anderson perceives creativity and innovation as separate parts of a process: creativity is the idea generation and, separate to this, innovation is the implementation. We would like to suggest a different definition of creativity, considering the role it plays in innovation: practical creativity.

Practical creativity combines divergent thinking and lateral thinking regarding dilemmas both internal and external to the organization. Divergent thinking employs the exploration of many different ideas, concepts and solutions and lateral thinking addresses real-world problems by viewing the problem in a new light. Overall, this combines thinking outside the box with a practical outlook. And this allows organizations to innovate by conceiving the future creatively. As Sandra Westmöller shared with us, a creative person, and by extension a creative leader, is one who:

"can see things from a different angle, think outside the box, and who uses an open dialogue with his colleagues to learn the perspectives and ideas from others. Creativity is an enabler and contributor for innovation"

Professor Gina Neff, during her interview, talked about the way in which creativity is often based on a practical solution to a problem. Innovation "doesn't have to be new, it has to be a creative solution to a real-world scenario". Neff talked about how one of the best ways to encourage this is to tease out the tacit knowledge of every worker. We also see this sentiment of using creativity to find solutions to practical problems in a paper by Mumford et al. (2014). They identify that "creative work can occur when the tasks presented involve complex, ill-defined problems where performance requires the



Professor Gina Neff

generation of novel, useful solutions" (Mumford et al., 2014: 707).

During our interview with the Human Resources Director of an international company, this practical approach to innovation was also highlighted. He emphasized the importance of curiosity for innovative organizations, rather than necessarily what people would traditionally perceive as 'creativity'. He expressed it is more about practical creativity. We can use data to spot the gaps in the market in order to pinpoint what people need and find a practical solution. This keeps innovation focused on the practical needs of customers. This can go beyond predictability as well. He gave us the example of the iPad: no one thought people would be in such need of a device, but it went beyond predictable creativity and it met consumer needs. It is a perfect example of this kind of practical creativity.

In order to harness practical creativity, we need to develop ways of balancing divergent thinking with lateral thinking. Diving into what each of us can do to foster these cognitive processes, we will touch on 2 frameworks. The first is from Boden's earlier work on the creative mind, which details 3 types of personal creativity we should explore, and the second is from Harvard Business Review's study on senior executives at innovative companies which outlines 5 'discovery activities' which distinguish the most creative executives.

When balancing creativity and practicality, Boden (1990) suggests that we should each consider 3 types of personal creativity in parallel with the practical aspects of what can be put into play. According to her these distinct forms are:

- Making unfamiliar combinations of familiar ideas. This can be either deliberate or unconscious.
- Exploring structured conceptual spaces. This includes questioning the limits of these spaces.
- Transforming the space itself. This is the most difficult of all; it is about conceiving of thoughts which you previously thought were inconceivable.

As these types of creativity are distinct from one another, it can be a useful exercise for leaders to experiment introspectively or with their teams to ensure each form of creative thought is represented.

In their Harvard Business Review article (2009), The Innovator's DNA, Dyer, Gregersen and Christensen specifically studied CEOs and identified 5 discovery activities. They found that, "innovative entrepreneurs (who are also CEOs) spend 50% more time on these discovery activities than do CEOs with no track record for innovation". The discovery activities are:

- Associating. Connecting seemingly unrelated questions, problems, or ideas from different fields.
- Questioning. Focusing on the why's and the what's, not the how's; imagining opposites and embracing constraints.
- Observing. Producing uncommon business ideas by scrutinizing common phenomena, particularly the behavior of potential customers. In observing others, they act like anthropologists and social scientists.
- Experimenting. Creating prototypes and launching pilots.
- Networking. Devoting time and energy to finding and testing ideas through a network of diverse individuals: "Unlike most executives —who network to access resources, to sell themselves or their companies, or to boost their careers—innovative entrepreneurs go out of their way to meet people with different kinds

of ideas and perspectives to extend their own knowledge domains"

These 2 frameworks show us ways to stimulate the ability of both employees and leaders to think divergently and laterally. In other words, these cognitive and behavioral explorations enhance our ability to balance thinking outside the box with thinking practically about solutions to real-world problems. This balancing act links to the balance of exploring and exploiting, a skill which will be explored more in the section on *Embodying Paradox*. The kind of practical creativity which stems from these qualities will help organizations to innovate by conceiving the future creatively.

1.3. PERCEIVING CONSTRAINTS AS OPPORTUNITIES

It's also important for us to address constraints and limitations. After all, practical creativity isn't all about blue-sky thinking.

Leaders will almost certainly face constraints within their team, market or production line. This could lead to the misconception that these constraints reduce the potential for creative leadership. However, the opposite can be true.

Boden stresses this point in her research:

"Creative constraints... can leave many options open at certain points in one's thinking... In short, human creativity often benefits from 'mental mutations'... phenomena such as serendipity, coincidence, and unconstrained conceptual association are useful, because they provide unexpected ideas that can be fed into a structured creative process" (Boden, 1990: 241)

An example the Human Resources Director for an international company used in our interview was Fortnite. Though constrained in the sense that it is a free-to-play game it is also free to market. Through earning V-bucks, trading and purchasing packs to progress to higher levels, players can also invest heavily. As a result, Fortnite, and other games like it, have created a booming business model in the face of large barriers. And its potential is essentially limitless.

In a leadership context, what's significant about creativity is that it can be amplified and resonate through teas and organizations. This does not occur in spite of constraints, but rather because of themorganizations.

Creativity leads to impactful innovation as it establishes the environment and matrix within which it can occur. Though it can be difficult to get the environment just right, as a leader, the challenges can be systematically addressed as we've explored above. Once that culture is embedded, and team members feel safe to share their ideas and think outside the box, knowledge from different parts of the organization can be integrated and innovations generated for their benefit, as we will further examine in the next section.

PUT IT INTO ACTION

- Create an open culture through employing humor, high-energy and psychological safety. Demonstrate a leadership style which is both kinetic and supportive helps to lower hierarchies and foster an inclusive and equal atmosphere. As a result, teams feel safe to express their creative thoughts and ideas.
- Think of creativity practically. This combines divergent thinking and lateral thinking regarding dilemmas both internal and external to the organization. Practical creativity balances thinking outside the box with a practical outlook, which helps organizations to innovate by addressing real-world problems with useful solutions.
- Perceive constraints as opportunities in order to radically shift how your team approaches and solves problems.

2. INTEGRATING KNOWLEDGE: GROWTH AND COLLABORATION



"Progress, then, is a kind of collective thinking, which lacks a brain of its own, but which is made possible...by the solidarity of the brains of numerous scholars and inventors who interchange their successive discoveries" (Tarde, 1903: 149)

The interrelationship between inventive, original thought and the collaboration of individuals is widely accepted as a prerequisite for progress. And when it comes to conceptualizing and executing innovative ideas, this combination is vital for organizations.

Here, we will explore 3 ways in which leaders can steer organizations to reinforce innovation through encouraging the integration of knowledge:

- 2.1. Knowledge growth: breadth and depth
- 2.2. Internal collaboration and diversity
- 2.3. External collaboration and open innovation

These 3 ways of integrating knowledge, which leaders can help to instigate and ingrain, can catalyze innovation. They sharpen awareness and instinct, grow expertise, enhance connectivity and strengthen ideas and processes through integrating different forms of knowledge. Caridi-Zahavi et al. (2015) talk about how knowledge integration is "a vital process through which the exchange of experience and expertise helps translate new ideas into new outcomes such as new products or new services" (Caridi-Zahavi et al., 2015: 357). The exploitation of integrating knowledge through growth and collaboration aids organizations in progressing and flourishing in today's rapidly changing world.

2.1. KNOWLEDGE GROWTH: BREADTH AND DEPTH

Potikes and Barnett (2017) in The Coevolution of Organizational Knowledge and Market Technology argue that there are advantages in the pursuit of 2 things:

- Knowledge consistency. This is knowledge built gradually over time which leads to "a comprehensive knowledge base that cannot be easily replicated by a quick move into a particular research area" (Potikes and Barnett, 2017: 8).
- Knowledge specialism. This denotes the way in which "the specialist to a given area of knowledge space devotes all its resources to innovating in that area" (ibid., 11).

These 2 forms of knowledge both emphasize the importance of obtaining depth of knowledge in organizations. This depth of knowledge comes from a long-term commitment to building knowledge in a specific area and also the commitment of resources to bring about new, innovative phenomena within that area.

A depth of knowledge is certainly advantageous when it comes to conceiving of innovative ideas. Intimate know-how of specific topics enables the individual and the organization to identify the places where improvement is necessary and how it can be implemented. Importantly for organizations, this depth of knowledge will contain awareness of the market needs, target audience and competitors.

This was identified during their interview by the Human Resources Director for an international company as an important precursor for innovation. He emphasized the importance of hyper-awareness for leaders and similarly the importance of encouraging employees to pursue a considerable depth of knowledge. Their goal as an organization is for employees to be customer obsessed: aware of customer trends through social media, customer surveys and consistent market research.

On the other hand, he also recognized the importance in obtaining a breadth of knowledge for organizational innovation. It is not necessarily solely being aware of what's in front of you but being cognizant of what's around you. An example that he gave was the ability to think more broadly about who could be identified as your competitors in the market. For example, from the angle of beauty products, it might be wise to look at what chocolatiers are producing. Even if the organization which deals with beauty products is not producing chocolates, their gift products will compete in the market. It cannot hurt to know their target audience, products and strategies intimately in order to compete effectively.

In their 2010 paper, Exploring the effects of creative CEO leadership on innovation in hightechnology firms, Makri and Scandura take a slightly different approach, but their argument proves a similar point. They isolate 2 dimensions of strategic leadership: creative leadership and operational leadership.

- Creative leadership. An emphasis on developing internal knowledge, human capital as well as being "skilled at stimulating creative staff intellectually, trusting and supporting them, and providing them latitude" (Makri and Scandura, 2010: 76).
- Operational leadership. This is the ability to "sense new market needs, develop new concepts for products and services, and increase the firm's knowledge diversity by diversifying into new products/markets via merges, alliances or acquisitions" (ibid.).

A leader who drives innovation needs to have a good sense and awareness of internal development as well as external movements and the ability to identify new opportunities. In other words, as we can see above, they need to encourage both depth of knowledge as well as breadth of knowledge. Leaders need to identify a breadth of areas and sources of knowledge acquisition as well as enhancing and nurturing knowledge depth within their own team.

The importance of a breadth of knowledge for innovation is also touched on by Leiponen and Helfat (2010). Their argument hangs on the fact that given the risk of innovation, firms can improve the odds of success by drawing on lots of sources in order to get ideas and also through having a breadth of innovative objectives. Their study on the manufacturing sector in Finland found that a greater breadth of knowledge sources and innovative objectives was associated with greater innovation success at the firm level, particularly for newly commercialized innovations in terms of sales revenues.

Leaders' encouragement of sustaining deep and broad knowledge, both through internal self-development and awareness of current external sources, is a balance which will facilitate an innovative organizational culture. And the innovations which they decide to pursue are



Friederike Woermann-Seiger

Dr Sionade Robinson

Sandra Westmöller

more likely to be on-the-money with what products they are offering in the market.

2.2. INTERNAL COLLABORATION AND DIVERSITY

In a recent report by the Boston Consulting Group on how diverse teams boost innovation (Lorenzo et al., 2018), it was found from a sample of 1,700 global companies that companies which champion diverse leadership teams boast 45% innovation revenue (revenue from products brought to market within the previous 3 years) compared with just 26% from companies with less diverse leadership. This diversity not only included factors like gender, culture and ethnicity, but also people who have had non-linear career paths and experience in other industries.

Diversity within teams is a great aid to increasing innovative knowledge in organizations. It welcomes different approaches and viewpoints and it also naturally creates a context for friction and criticism. This only makes products and services more resilient. As Friederike Woermann-Seiger mentioned:

"We need to be collaborative in terms of integrating people of different backgrounds into project teams working on innovative topics"

After informing us of the struggle for diversity in their own organization, one which many organizations encounter, Woermann-Seiger asserted that their push for diverse teams very much continues. It is crucial for innovation that they "enlarge the pool of knowledge and the way project team members are approaching the issue at hand". Their efforts to improve cultural diversity, and subsequently diverse knowledgeintegration, has resulted in a rotation program in which employees from different countries, and even from clients and digital partner companies, swap with one another for a short period of time. She noted that this allows the organizations to lower the barriers, collaborate and consider each other's ideas. And this promotes innovation:

"If you don't exchange and you don't mix the team then you will always have these internal barriers which block innovation"

Dr Sionade Robinson pointed out one of the sources of these barriers: the common knowledge effect. As Daniel Gigone, one of the leading scholars on the concept, defines it, this encompasses the way in which *"information known by everyone prior to discussion has a more powerful influence on decisions than information not shared by everyone"*. In other words, people much prefer information which lots of people have in common, and tend to neglect unique information (Stasser et al., 2012). The inclination, therefore, is to give information which is held by the majority more credibility than the information which individuals or minorities may hold. This is counterproductive for knowledge-integration.

Robinson talked about the challenge this presents to leaders: making the most out of diverse groups and the diverse knowledge they will inevitably bring to the table. In order to do this, Robinson said, leaders have to manage the common knowledge effect in order to bring diverse groups together. Robinson talks about 2 main ways by which this can be done:

- Psychological safety. Leaders can create a psychologically safe environment where people feel they can share their views, thoughts and information. This allows the information which is not held in common to have due airing. This comes from mechanisms such as humor, self-deprecation and hierarchy reduction from the leader (which are all discussed in further depth in the first section, Conceiving the future creatively).
- Commonly relatable analogy. Explicitly labelling the experience as knowledgesharing helps employees to get into the mode of exploring together. An example that Robinson gave was talking to the group upfront about the mindset held by explorers and how they approach the task to try and get them to identify as explorers themselves and adopt the skills of an explorer: preparing thoroughly, reading the conditions well, being sensitive to operation conditions of the team and thinking carefully about risk management and goal achievement.

Currently, Robinson is researching the contribution of an 'explorer's mindset' to leadership development and regularly shares short articles on LinkedIn using concepts of exploration to interrogate contemporary management thinking. These include How to choose the best crew for a voyage of discovery (February 2019), First Man: Was Neil Armstrong's epic lunar mission an adventure, expedition or stunt? (October 2018) and What I learned when I changed my shoes (April 2017) among several others.

Both psychological safety and commonly relatable analogy are positive for innovation;

they lower barriers and bring together a large pool of diverse knowledge, which ultimately makes ideas sturdier. Professor Gina Neff also pinpointed the importance of capitalizing on psychological safety so that people feel like their ideas will be listened to, rather than feeling protective over their work in progress. The trust and openness which is facilitated by psychological safety can be used as a catalyst for innovation.

Sandra Westmöller expanded on these points. She commented on the fact there is a barrier to gaining team diversity: a bias in selection processes:

"A manager needs to select people who are not like them – which is of course contrary to the first impulse to select someone who is exactly like you. If people are too similar, there is a good chance that you won't have an innovative process"

Westmöller talks about how the beauty of diverse teams and asserts that they bring together different perspectives, ideas and backgrounds. This is why they can detect different problems or at least different aspects of the same problem. Diversity thus enables disruption and innovation. In order to firefight the tendency to homogeneity, expressed Westmöller, there must be an awareness of the problem and an element of self-reflectiveness: you need to know how you think and the criteria you are reflexively using to judge people.

We see this echoed in Donn Byrne's 'Similarity-Attraction Theory' (1969). This argues that individuals are attracted to those with whom they share something in common. In order to create a more innovative team, this predisposition in recruitment is crucial for organizations to address.

Westmöller also expanded on the fact that it is not just through the local recruitment process that leaders of international organizations can foster diversity and contribute to organizational innovation. They can also use technological platforms to collaborate with colleagues across the globe. This helps to gain diverse perspectives and enables international networks on certain topics which can be applied to their own processes. This happened, for example, in a global collaboration of their HR teams when assessing the gender balance problem in recruitment; they found that gaining multiple different perspectives on ways to ameliorate team diversity, especially from teams who have a high rate of success in recruiting diverse teams (e.g. in China), was incredibly enriching and helpful.

The Human Resources Director for an international company also pointed out that, as a leader, it is important to focus on facilitating internal collaboration. He gives the example of a 2-day company hackathon. This allowed people to come together to discuss 2 big problems in the organization. This safe space to collaborate and share provided lots of good raw ideas and viewpoints which the organization could then build upon: "If you can frame the question well and get people to collaborate effectively from different cultures...you get a really good output".

He expressed that the importance of diversity does not just apply to background, gender and ethnicity but also to diverse ages and different levels of the organization. It's important to bring people up in the organization who are of a different generation and may have fresh insight. This will not only create a cohesive organization where everyone feels listened to, but it will also make sure all areas of the organization continue to innovate and feel motivated to do so.

Professor Gina Neff highlighted the positive impact of this internal collaboration. She referenced the company 'Quantum Black' who have a designer sit in with each of their learning teams. This internal collaboration and knowledge-sharing leads not only to well-rounded ideas, but to more realistic and practical innovation.

This internal collaboration from all departments of the organization is also championed by Bessant (2009). In his book on creativity, culture, concepts, process and implementing surrounding innovation, he advocates the idea that organizations should integrate people from all levels of the organization rather than placing the 'innovative' members of the organization far away from others. He writes:

"You should not attempt to limit innovation to research labs or marketing meetings – it should be something to which everyone can contribute" (Bessant, 2009: 16)

In the same vein, a field survey-based study among 69 small-to-medium-sized technological ventures in Israel (Caridi-Zahavi et al., 2015) showed that CEO visionary innovative leadership was positively linked to a context of connectivity in the organization, and this itself was related to firm knowledge integration which in turn enhanced innovation. They define visionary innovation leadership as "the ability to create and articulate a realistic, credible, and attractive vision of the future for an organization" (ibid., 359) and connectivity as high-quality work relationships characterized by openness and generativity. Their high-level hypothesized model, through which they go on to illustrate further interdependencies as they develop it in their study, is shown below.



The hypothesized model illustrating connectivity between visionary leadership and firm innovations (adapted from Caridi-Zahavi et al 2015)

These leadership qualities of exhibiting visionary tendencies and creating a context of connectivity are essential characteristics when it comes to promoting an innovative environment. Additionally, the ability of leaders to integrate and create bonds within teams is imperative for enhancing collective innovation (Jiang and Chen, 2016).

In terms of communication which might facilitate this collaboration, we see the importance of what Gina Neff and Carrie Dossick refer to as 'messy talk'. In their 2011 paper, Messy talk and clean technology, they studied interorganizational collaborations among architects, engineers and construction professionals. 'Messy talk' denotes the conversations that are not concerned with topics on meeting agendas, nor on specific problems. These interactions fill gaps of knowledge within organizations and between organizations. During the interview, Neff noted the example of a new digital tool implemented by 1 of the organizations in this study to increase collaboration. In fact, it did the opposite. What was more productive for innovation were these 'messy talk' situations; they allow for the exchange of informal, active and flexible conversations and tacit knowledge.

2.3. EXTERNAL COLLABORATION AND OPEN INNOVATION

"CEOs who are able to simultaneously focus on the external and internal environment, will be more effective leaders" (Makri and Scandura, 2010: 76)

By prioritizing exploitation of knowledge both inside and outside of organizations, leaders can strengthen innovation (Berggren et al., 2011). Carmeli et al. (2010) summarize this well, writing:

"When the leaders display innovation-related behaviors they are cultivating a context that enables people to come up with creative ideas to solve problems, thus enhancing the capacity of the system to respond to changing conditions in the external environment" (Carmeli et al., 2011: 341) A recent article in the Harvard Business Review by Deichmann, Rozentale and Barnhoorn defined open innovation as a process for knowledge sharing across different organizations. They give the example of L'Oréal working with Renault on the 'electric space concept car'. Strangely, though, they point out that even though collaboration increases, the adoption of these ideas does not seem to be on the rise. Similarly, a recent poll by Accenture shows that more than 50% of surveyed corporations said these partnerships do not seem to be yielding as many new products as they had hoped.

So, is open innovation everything it is cracked up to be?

Open innovation certainly has been found to have a really positive impact on innovation performance measures (Inauen and Schenker-Wicki, 2011). Woermann-Seiger also noted in her interview how critical it is for leaders to network to engage in external collaboration and how openness and good networks bring great people together. Specifically, she gave the example of their recent event in Singapore and Learning Journeys to US and China to foster innovation. This brought together people from start-ups, digital companies and it connected innovators, investors and universities. This was an incredibly productive way of knowledgesharing with people outside of the company.

Equally, in a 2016 article in Nature, Richard Hodson talks about the importance of open innovation in the instance of developing medicine. Competitors are partnering with each other and releasing tools to explore potential drug targets: "The freely available chemical probe JQ1, for instance, has sparked more innovation than it ever would have had it been kept locked away".

So, external collaboration is definitely worth pursuing. But the right conditions must be in place. Through the examination of 7 case studies, Deichmann, Rozentale and Barnhoorn (2017) found it was true that "ideas that incorporate the diverse views of different experts and stakeholders are stronger". The important thing for enhancing this collaboration is cultivating flexibility and trust, creating multilayered networks, fostering equal ownership, establishing interim milestones, building open business cases and prototyping early. Picking up on the importance of **trust**, Miles Raymond in his assessment of leadership in technological innovation in the U.S., makes the vital point that within trusting relationships, individuals feel freer to collaborate and share knowledge in the process of innovation:

"In every industry, most innovations are powered by collaborative knowledge sharing relationships. It follows that organizations and managers that are capable of creating conditions that build and sustain trust...are more likely to be successful" (Miles, 2007: 195)

The trust climate can be maintained by leaders in a number of ways, but 3 notable ones are:

- Recognition. As Miles points out, leaders maintain this trusting climate which then goes on to generate high rates of innovation. This is done by "regularly recognizing and acknowledging contributions and encouraging efforts to find new knowledge sources both within and across unit and organizational lines" (Miles, 2007: 199). Knowledge-sharing, integration and exploration are crucial things to enhance when it comes to innovation.
- Mutual understanding. Communicating the norms and values of a shared collective mission is important for productive knowledge-sharing (Jackson et al., 2006). Kozlowski and Yamin (2010) aim to present a framework that enables organizations to enhance innovation. They pick up on the fact that better communication and understanding between management and employees may create a culture of trust which can positively contribute to the performance of the company. This also translates to open innovation. It is important that there is clear and honest communication between organizations which creates a mutual understanding through trust.
- Actioning. This trust cannot remain static and unactioned. Leaders have to walk the talk and demonstrate commitment to their employees by placing actioned trust in their ideas. Davila et al. (2013) demonstrate this viewpoint in their book Making Innovation Work: "Innovation management depends on the leadership at the top. The team at the top smust want it to happen and trust its people

to make it happen. Innovation cannot be an espoused theory, with top managers preaching it but not believing it. Innovation must be a theory in action; top managers must be committed and follow their commitment with actions" (Davila et al., 2013: 13).

In many cases, even if external collaboration doesn't lead to successful implementation, it broadens the scope of knowledge and networks which organizations can use in their future innovations. In order to make these external networks strong and productive, trust is a key element to ensure there is the best chance of innovation. With 'trust' being a core part of our Science of Happiness at Work model at iOpener, we certainly believe this is a quality which should be championed and implemented by leaders in order for organizations to thrive. (Pryce-Jones, 2010)

PUT IT INTO ACTION

- Grow knowledge which demonstrates both breadth and depth. Depth of knowledge requires intimate knowledge of your customers, organization and areas of expertise. Breadth of knowledge entails being cognizant of what's around you, especially regarding competitors in the market.
- Collaborate both internally and externally. Internal collaboration is strengthened by diverse teams; this enlarges the pool of knowledge and ultimately makes ideas more resilient. Leaders should also aim to maximize connectivity within teams. External collaboration is also important for innovation. And it should establish a trusting environment through recognition and mutual understanding.

3. EMBODYING PARADOX: LEADERSHIP FLEXIBILITY



"A combination of different leadership behaviors flexibly applied to changing requirements within the innovation process is more effective" (Rosing et al., 2011: 957)

Leaders who foster innovation are those who can flex in different environments to the point where, if required, they can use diametrically opposing leadership techniques. In essence, they embody paradoxical qualities.

We will go on to explore 2 ways in which leaders can embody paradoxical qualities which are both equally important for innovation in different scenarios:

- 3.1. Balancing speed with long-term goals
- 3.2. Exploring versus exploiting

The word itself 'innovate' comes from the Latin words 'in' and 'novare' which literally means 'to change, to make something new' (Bessant, 2009). The nature of innovation processes is intrinsically one of change and leaders also need to be adaptable to foster innovation.

In her interview, Sandra Westmöller talked about the fact that innovative leaders and innovative employees have in common that they "don't fear change and embrace change as something positive" and that they are also "really flexible". In this sense, organizations which exemplify successful innovation processes often exhibit flexible employees and flexible leaders. When asked about how leaders can facilitate this flexibility in employees, Westmöller answered that these qualities develop over time from leaders creating successes for their employees; there is a good chance people will adapt if you encourage them to try something, be brave with their decisions, try something new, and celebrate successes when they arise.

The fact that innovation is both multi-phase (initiation, adoption decision and

implementation) and also multi-dimensional (influenced by multiple factors, including environment, context, market, etc.) means that if innovation is to take place people must be willing to adapt to lots of different scenarios and challenges (Damanpour et al., 2006).

Ultimately, successful leaders in disruptive environments both adapt themselves and cultivate a working environment which is ready to change and adapt (Carmeli et al., 2011; Chistensen, 1997; Hammer and Champy, 1993).

3.1. BALANCING SPEED WITH LONG-TERM GOALS

"If you want your organization to strike the delicate balance required, then you as a leader must demonstrate the ability to strike that balance yourself" (Pisano, 2019)

When asked about which qualities which are important for leaders in terms of encouraging innovation in employees, the Human Resources Director for an international company answered by talking about the importance of 'leadership agility'. This agile approach is necessary in order to constantly think about things from different angles. As a leader, he said, in order to induce successful innovation, you can't just let your organization carry on what it's doing, but rather:

"You need to react very quickly to what's going on around you"

Similarly, the leadership qualities of speed and agility were also touched on by Friederike Woermann-Seiger. She said that innovation doesn't necessarily come from the "traditional process path of planning, testing...things that take a long time" but in fact in order to be innovative "we need to be more flexible, we need to be faster". In order to capture innovative ideas before anyone else and get ahead of the game, leaders and those responsible for projects need to make **fast decisions** to pilot an idea, review it, and decide quickly whether or not to pursue it. Woermann-Seiger commented that this is something they have realized is necessary for innovation at Roland Berger: "[We have] reduced our wish for security and control and analysis...we are able to implement new topics and processes in a time when they are still new...if we would stick to the old ways of implementing, we would always lose those first moments"

Woermann-Seiger continued to expand on the importance of this leadership quality by means of a recent case study which exemplifies the success that can come with speed of implementation. At Roland Berger, they have introduced regular internal innovation sessions where employees are invited to present innovative topics and possible partners. Doing this has fed ideas into the organization and improved their organizational ecosystem:

"[We thought] we need to create a wave and create momentum and bring something new into the organization"

On the other side of the coin, it is incredibly important for organizations to be driven equally by long-term goals. A McKinsey Quarterly article in 2012 advocates this engagement with the long-term goals of an organization to drive things like its innovation and economic prosperity:

"The fact is that when people don't have real targets and incentives to focus on the long term, they don't; over time, performance declines because not enough people have the attention, or the capabilities, to sustain and renew it" (Gibbs, Heywood and Pettigrew, 2012: 129)

It has also been found that long-term managerial influences were found to have a greater impact on knowledge creation when combined with knowledge-exploitation resources (Zelaya-Zamora and Senoo, 2013). Woermann-Seiger endorses the view that organizations should use overarching long-term goals in order to shape these faster-changing movements. The ability of leaders to communicate a long-term vision helps to prioritize what you're going to do for the next few weeks, months and years. And on the other hand, this gives greater flexibility to adapt and develop their activities. It allows for them to measure ongoing change: "To extend the horizons of your thinking and your planning and even go beyond what you already know, and use this as a guideline for your short-term plans"

In this sense, it is crucial for leaders to be able to flex between spontaneous decision making and keeping long-term goals firmly on their horizon.

3.2. EXPLORING VERSUS EXPLOITING

"Being able to shift from new knowledge creation and exploration, to new knowledge application and exploitation highlights the challenge of leading effectively" (Makri and Scandura, 2010: 76)

The ability to come up with new, exciting, innovative ideas must be complemented by the ability to put these ideas into practice successfully (Yang, 2005). In other words, leaders need to create an environment which will successfully explore and successfully exploit innovative ideas.

In 1991, James March first defined exploration and exploitation. He labelled them as 2 situations involving the development and use of knowledge in organizations. Exploration denotes mutual learning in the organization, and is captured by things like search, variation, risk-taking, experimentation and discovery. Exploitation involves learning about competitive advantage in the market, and includes things like production, selection and implementation. It is impossible to have an innovative system with only 1 of these. As March notes, they are both crucial for innovation:

"Adaptive systems that engage in exploration to the exclusion of exploitation are likely to find that they suffer the costs of experimentation without gaining many of its benefits...Conversely, systems that engage in exploitation to the exclusion of exploration are likely to find themselves trapped in suboptimal stable equilibria" (March, 1991: 71)

Rosing et al., (2011) bolster this view in their review and meta-analytical integration of existing literature on leadership and innovation. They explicate that the main requirement of innovative leaders is the ability to switch between effectively



Ambidextrous leadership and innovation in practice (adapted from Rosing et al 2011)

exploring and effectively exploiting ideas. They label this to be the 'ambidextrous theory of leadership': the ability to switch between exploring and exploiting in order to deal with the changing requirements of the innovation process. They argue that this comes more often from people who are behaviorally and cognitively complex:

> "It is the temporal flexibility to adapt these behaviors to the requirements of the innovation tasks that is essential for ambidextrous leadership" (Rosing et al., 2011: 967)

Their overview of this proposed model can be seen above:

The quality of 'ambidexterity', i.e. being able to both explore and exploit with equal ability, was recently tested by Zacher and Rosing (2015). They carried out a multi-source survey for 33 team leaders and 90 of their employees in architectural and interior design firms. Although a small sample size, the results supported the idea that ambidextrous leadership behaviours increased team innovation.

An important skill to be included within the transition between exploration and exploitation is selectiveness. The ability of a leader to recognize which ideas will flourish in practice, as opposed to the things which will not, is a very important skill when it comes to successful innovation. Woermann-Seiger expanded on this, talking about the way in which leaders need to reflect on whether something is interesting or actually important because you "cannot take every ball that is flying towards you". There must be a smooth system for idea creation and implementation, as well as a review process for both products and for changes in the company more generally speaking. As an example, Woermann-Seiger references their bi-annual process in Global Human Resources of reflecting on long-term goals, where they think about what to prioritise and what to stop.

Bessant (2009) suggests that the process of selection is done by listening to customers, asking yourself what will help to achieve your goal as an organization, benchmarking for improvements in other companies and so on.

Of course, the incentive for being selective is that some new products and services, when exploited, will generate higher revenue. In 1903, Gabriel Tarde plotted the 'S-shaped diffusion curve', which maps growth of revenue against time. The idea is that the diffusion of new products and services is initially slower in terms of how much revenue it produces. But growing customer demand increases the revenue before it then inevitably declines.

Innovation which changes and updates the product allows continued growth. It is the ability to diffuse new, but also relevant and useful products and services which is important for company growth. This idea was spoken about in greater depth in the sections on Integrating Knowledge and Conceiving the Future Creatively. The only way that leaders can endorse this change is by being adaptable themselves:

"If you do not change what you create and offer the world...you run the risk of being pushed aside by organizations that do. And if you want your business to grow, you are unlikely to achieve this if you do not offer new products and services in new ways" (Bessant, 2009: 8)

The recent Harvard Business Review Article, The Hard Truth About Innovation (2019) has also recognized that there needs to be a balance between 'willingness to experiment' and being 'highly disciplined'. Without this discipline, almost anything can be justified as an experiment, which is unsustainable. It goes on to talk about how leaders need to have the ability to discern which project they need to terminate, even if they have championed them in the first place. Leaders must exhibit the ultimate flexibility and willingness to change their mind in the face of change and decision making.

Professor Gina Neff drew a parallel with Karl Weick's book Sensemaking in Organizations. The book looks at rapid response teams in various industries, such as movie sets or largescale conferences, and one thing they all have in common is clarity of role. As Neff puts it: "Leaders help to ensure that people know what their job is, and within that they have the ability to be adaptable and creative". Neff has highlighted here an important point: the ability of leaders to communicate both structure and freedom supports the balance of systematic exploitation with creative exploration.

PUT IT INTO ACTION

- Balance spontaneous decision making with maintaining long-term goals.
- Explore and exploit. Leaders need to be ambidextrous by establishing a process where ideas can be explored and also put into practice.

4. FAILING TO RISK AND RISKING FAILURE

"The big problem we face in managing innovation is: the fear of being a fool is often much stronger than the hope of being a genius" (Barnett, 2017)

Both personally and professionally, we should all aspire to fail from time to time. It is an essential part of the learning curve; it allows us to learn from our mistakes and build up stronger parameters for future endeavors. Far from the types of failure that result from poor process or incompetence, some failures come about through the process of putting new, exciting ideas to the test and stretching away from the norm. This risk of failure is a driver for innovation and so should not be avoided or perceived negatively.

Unfortunately, management, at least in the traditional sense, emphasizes minimizing risk and reducing variance in the system, particularly when the system they have in place is already working well.

Encouraging teams to be creative and to think outside the box, in order to come up with solutions, is an essential part of the innovative process. The price to be paid for this, however, is the occasional failure. Leaders must be prepared to accept failure and learn from it if they are aiming for true change. In this last section we will examine what it means to fail and how this can be used productively and innovatively. This will be explored in 2 parts:

4.1. Resisting the 'tried and tested'4.2. Celebrating and learning from failure

Ultimately, innovation can only come about through the bravery to risk failure and to resiliently persist until the best solution is found.

4.1. RESISTING THE 'TRIED AND TESTED'

It can be difficult as a leader to push yourself and your team to move away from your organizations tried and tested in terms of both products and processes. This occurs particularly if your organization has found success and your team is performing well.

Resisting the tried and tested often boils down to people's preference for familiarity and consensus. As leaders, this is often the culprit when it comes to discouraging innovation. As Barnett explores:

"[I]f we ask other people what we think of our idea, and they are all in agreement, we have a consensus idea. If they are not all in agreement, it is a non-consensus idea.
To be innovative, you want to be in the right, non-consensus, box. If you're wrong, you just don't want to be alone, which is why most organizations go for consensus ideas" (Barnett, 2017)

Sandra Westmöller shared with us during her interview that leaders must be willing to resist the tried and tested. They must continue to invest in ideas, especially when they are convinced that they will bring the company forward. In addition, a company needs to provide the best context for teams to shape the future of tomorrow:

"HELLA heavily invests in R&D. Some years ago, we took the decision to launch incubators, little groups, one in Silicon Valley and one in Berlin which both work hand-in-hand with the global start-up scene. They develop technologies, products or services with the short- or long-term potentials to completely disrupt the rules of the market" This area requires an adventurous spirit, entrepreneurial risk-taking and a dynamic work organization: at HELLA Ventures Berlin, small business teams with flat hierarchies and short development cycles create the necessary agility for keeping pace with the increasing innovation speed of the automotive market. In order to allow for the required freedom here, HELLA has therefore separated these activities more strongly from its core business. There is the chance to get something really great. If you don't do it, you will never have the chance to be the first mover.

Here, we see that the pursuit of new ground, which is not necessarily tried and tested, has been important for the innovation of the organization.

Being the first mover and willing to risk change is something which Christensen (2016) found to be extremely difficult for organizations who are leading in their fields. This is why leading companies tend to fold when confronted with disruptive change. However, innovation is all about disruption, and so these companies need to be open to the risk that accompanies this. Christensen's investigation began with a simple question:

"[W]hy was it that firms that could be esteemed as aggressive, innovative, customer-sensitive organizations could ignore or attend belatedly to technological innovations with enormous strategic importance?" (Christensen, 2016: 24)

Importantly, he found that each of these organizations had once been very successful at finding new applications and markets for their products but had lost the ability by being "held captive" by their customers (ibid.).

By not remaining over-reliant on the tried and tested and opening up to celebrate failure as leaders, an innovative culture will start to embed.

4.2. CELEBRATING AND LEARNING FROM FAILURE

As mentioned previously, leaders should encourage and celebrate failure. Having said that, this does not mean that they should tolerate incompetence among their team. As explored in Gary Pisano's Harvard Business Review article The Hard Truth About Innovative Cultures: "Exploring risky ideas that ultimately fail is fine, but mediocre technical skills, sloppy thinking, bad work habits, and poor management are not" (Pisanco, 2019)

He expands on that point by saying that the trick lies in differentiating uncertainty from poorly thought out design, lack of transparency and bad management. There are productive failures, which yield valuable information relative to their cost, and there are unproductive failures, which are just expensive flops (Pisano, 2019).

This was echoed by the Human Resources Director for an international company during our interview with them. They added that this risk taking should also be celebrated by leaders in terms of how we can learn from it:

"There clearly is something about creating an environment where it's ok to fail. If it doesn't come off, we need to celebrate the fact we've learnt from it. We also need leaders who are prepared to be challenged"

Several of our clients are focused on this already, including a Global Strategy Consultancy that asked us to work with them to develop a session for their high potentials on 'Celebrating Failure'. They wanted their highest potentials to celebrate failures because this consultancy recognized that by creating spaces where it is safe to fail, they could also create spaces where their teams can innovate. After all, it is often the failures that make way for later successes.

Dr Sionade Robinson also shared similar thoughts. She stated that:

"Leaders should celebrate when people are being innovative and daring - the leaders' role is to facilitate the team in this direction. Be encouraging when people are putting them into practice, and positively highlighting when people are prepared"

Robinson used the example of when, a couple of years ago, 55 MBA students went to climb a glacier in Iceland and 50 of them got to the summit. They had glorious conditions and a wonderful experience together full of mutual encouragement. The following year, a new group set off along the same route - 50 began but this time only about 15 got to the top. By comparing themselves to the previous year, the second cohort experienced a sense of crushing disappointment that so few of them managed to get above the clouds and reach the summit.

When they reflected, they realized that they had set themselves the goal without any knowledge of the conditions nor any discussion as to how weather might impact their motivations or mean they should adjust their behavior. In the moment, they felt they had failed, but actually what they took from it was more enriching. They learned much more about themselves and how they responded to failing – a valuable lesson. It's the way you look at it and what you learn that shapes your ability to be more resilient, more innovative and prepared next time.

Furthermore, Robinson shared with us that openness to learning from failure is a trait that is sought after in Angel investors and others who are investing in entrepreneurs:

"They want to see real people who have or can learn from and are open to failure.It brings credibility, it shows self-awareness, perseverance, and you learn resilience and adaptability. People are often not reflective enough to realize that something might not be perfect"

In their article on Leadership Innovation in McKinsey Quarterly, Barsh et al. (2008) similarly identified openness as one of the most important precursors to innovation and failing well:

"Managers and employees broadly agree about the attitudes, values, and behaviors that promote innovation. Topping the list, in our research, were openness to new ideas and a willingness to experiment and take risks. In an innovative culture, employees know that their ideas are valued and believe that it is safe to express and act on those ideas and to learn from failure"

Conversely, and as we explored earlier in greater detail, innovation is inhibited by a bureaucratic and hierarchical environment (ibid.).

The question becomes how leaders can challenge themselves and endeavour to systematize successful failure in their organization to maximize the potential of their team to fail well. In *The Innovator's Dilemma* Christensen also outlines a success framework of leaders to fail well. In his research, Christensen noted that leaders of firms who failed well:

- Encourage disruptive projects.
- Plan early and inexpensive failure.
- Utilize organizational resources.
- Develop new markets. (Christensen, 2016: 99)

Leaders who endorse the celebration of failure, and who encourage their teams to learn from this failure, are bound to be successful when it comes to innovation. As Thomas Edison said: "I haven't failed. I've simply found 10,000 ways that do not work".

So, when innovating, perhaps remaining resilient through failure as a leader will ultimately lead to a lightbulb moment.

PUT IT INTO ACTION

- Resist the tried and tested by not always defaulting to consensus ideas.
- Celebrate and learn from failure, to creates a constructive and resilient organizational culture.



CONCLUSION



In this research paper we have explored the relationship between innovation and leadership. We have examined this relationship through critical analysis of existing literature on the topic and through key points made during interviews which were conducted with 5 experts from industry and academia. This has highlighted how leaders can endorse and amplify an innovative culture in their organization.

Although every leader and every team work differently, we have looked at 4 ways in which leaders, along with their teams, can establish and embed a culture which will embraces and facilitates innovation:

1. CONCEIVING THE FUTURE CREATIVELY.

This includes:

- Creating an open culture through employing humor, high-energy and psychological safety. Demonstrating a leadership style which is both kinetic and supportive helps to lower hierarchies and foster an inclusive and equal atmosphere. As a result, teams feel safe to express their creative thoughts and ideas.
- Thinking of creativity practically. This combines divergent thinking and lateral thinking

regarding dilemmas both internal and external to the organization. Practical creativity balances thinking outside the box with a practical outlook, which helps organizations to innovate by addressing real-world problems with useful solutions.

 Perceiving constraints as opportunities in order to radically shift how your team approaches and solves problems.

2. INTEGRATING KNOWLEDGE.

This includes:

- Growing knowledge which demonstrates both breadth and depth. Depth of knowledge requires intimate knowledge of your customers, organization and areas of expertise. Breadth of knowledge entails being cognizant of what's around you, especially regarding competitors in the market.
- Collaborating both internally and externally. Internal collaboration is strengthened by diverse teams; this enlarges the pool of knowledge and ultimately makes ideas more resilient. Leaders should also aim to maximize connectivity within teams. External collaboration is also important for innovation. And it should establish a trusting environment through recognition and mutual understanding.

3. EMBODYING PARADOX

This includes:

- Balancing spontaneous decision making with maintaining long-term goals.
- Exploring and exploiting. Leaders need to be ambidextrous by establishing a process where ideas can be explored and also put into practice.

4. FAILING TO RISK AND RISKING FAILURE

This includes:

- Resisting the tried and tested by not always defaulting to consensus ideas.
- Celebrating and learning from failure, which creates a constructive and resilient organizational culture.

Leaders can catalyze an organizational system which helps employees to grasp innovative thoughts and behaviors. Importantly, this process should be iterative and continuous. Adapting to this environment is essential for organizations to survive. Ultimately, cultivating an innovative organizational culture enables organizations to drive change and achieve their potential.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to sincerely thank all five of the interviewees, Friederike Woermann-Seiger, the Human Resources Director for an international company, Sandra Westmöller, Dr Sionade Robinson and Professor Gina Neff. Their time, insight and expertise have been absolutely invaluable.

Thank you to Katie Demain, who has also been an incredible source of support and knowledge during this process. And also to Santi Garcia for his fabulous recommendations during the literature review.

A big thank you to Lisa Clunie from Thrive Studio for her wonderful work with formatting and beautifying this paper. We would also like to thank Caroline Saunders for her help with marketing and for her encouragement and hard work in terms of making this work accessible to the wider community.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Amabile, T., Schatzel, E., Moneta, G., Kramer, S. (2006). Leader behaviors and the work environment for creativity: Perceived leader support. The Leadership Quarterly, 15(1), pp.5-32.
- Anderson, N., De Drey, C., and Nijstad, B. (2004). The routinization of innovation research: A constructively critical review of the state-of-the-science. Journal of Organizational Behaviour, 25(2), pp.147-173.
- Barnett, William. 'Leading Innovation by Design'. Webinar. Stanford Business School.
- Barsh, J., Capozzi, M., Davidson, J. (2008) Leadership and Innovation. McKinsey Quarterly.
- Berggren, C., Bergek, A., and Bengtsson, L. (2011). Knowledge Integration and Innovation: Critical Challenges Facing International Technology-Based Firms. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Bessant, J. R. (2009). Innovation. London; New York: DK.
- Bledlow, R., Frese, M., Mueller, V. (2011). Ambidextrous Leadership for Innovation: The Influence of Culture. Volkswagen Foundation.
- Boden, Margaret A. (1990). The Creative Mind: Myths and Mechanisms. Routledge.
- Byrne, D., Griffitt, W., Hudgins, W. and Reeves, K. (1969). Attitude Similarity-Dissimilarity and Attraction: Generality Beyond the College Sophomore. The Journal of Social Psychology, 79(2), pp.155-161.
- Caridi-Zahavi, O., Carmeli, A., and Arazy, O. (2015). The Influence of CEO's Visionary Innovation Leadership on the Performance of High-Technology Ventures: The Mediating Roles of Connectivity and Knowledge Integration. Journal of Product Innovation Management, 33(3), pp.356-376.
- Carmeli, A. Gelbard, R. and Gefen, D. (2010). The importance of innovation leadership in cultivating strategic fit and enhancing firm performance. The Leadership Quarterly, 21(3), pp.339-349.
- Cefis, E. and Marsili, O (2005). A matter of life and death: innovation and firm survival. Industrial and Corporate Change, 14(6), pp.1167-1192.
- Cheng, J. Yo-Jud Cheng; Groysberg, Boris (2018). Innovation should be a top priority of boards. So why isn't it? HBR.
- Christensen, C. M., Raynor, M. and McDonald, R. (2015). What Is Disruptive Innovation? HBR.
- Christensen, Clayton M., and Raynor, M. (2003). The Innovator's Solution: Creating and Sustaining Successful Growth. Harvard University Press.
- Christensen, Clayton M. (1997). The Innovator's Dilemma. Harvard University Press.
- Crossan, M. and Apaydin, M. (2010). A Multi-Dimensional Framework of Organizational Innovation: A Systematic Review of the Literature. Journal of Management Studies, (47)6, pp.1154-1191.
- Damanpour, F., and Schneider, M. (2006). Phases of the Adoption of Innovation in Organizations: Effects of Environment, Organization and Top Managers. British Journal of Management, 17(3).
- Davila, T., Epstein, M., and Shelton, R. (2013). Making innovation work: How to manage it, measure it, and profit from it. Upper Saddle River, N.J.: FT Press.
- Deichmann, D., Rozentale, I., and Barnhorrn, R. (2017). Open Innovation Generates Great Ideas, So Why Aren't Companies Adopting Them? HBR.
- Dore, John (2019). 5 keys to unlock innovation. London Business School. Available from: https://www.london.edu/lbsr/5-keys-to-unlock-innovation?utm_source=twitter&utm_medium=sm_channels&utm_campaign=lbsr_5_keys_unlock_innovation&sc_camp=B4DC D0D46A8C4042B48E5AC13F8565D4&fbclid=IwAR1IAt-pL1VuxF7_XcC48u5IHwMqYnVmhVwhhNuKKl0OTNSTO6JN8kwuco
- Dossick, C.S. and Neff, G. (2011). Messy talk and clean technology: communication, problem-solving and collaboration using Building Information Modelling. Engineering Project Organization Journal, 1(2), pp.83-93.
- Drucker, Peter F (1985). Innovation and Entrepreneurship. Harper Collins.
- Edison, H., Bin Ali, N., and Torkar, R. (2013). Towards innovation measurement in the software industry. The Journal of Systems and Software, 86(5), pp.1390-1407.
- Fredrickson, B. (2004). The broaden-and-build theory of positive emotions. Phil. Trans. The Royal Society London, 359, pp.1367 1377.
- Gibbs, T., Heywood, S. and Pettigrew, M. (2012). Encouraging your people to take the long view. McKinsey Quarterly, 4, pp.129-133.
- Gigone, D., 'Common Knowledge Effect'. In: Levine, J. and Hogg, M. Encyclopedia of Group Processes & Intergroup Relations. http://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781412972017.n39
- Hammer, Michael and Champy, James (1993). Reengineering the Corporation: A Manifesto for Business Revolution. London: Nicholas Brealey Publishing.
- Higgins, C. and Judge, T. (2004). The Effect of Applicant Influence Tactics on Recruiter Perceptions of Fit and Hiring Recommendations: A Field Study. Journal of Applied Psychology, 89(4), pp.622-632.
- Hivern, W., Hopkins, W. and Hopkins, S. (2003). Facilitating, accelerating, and sustaining the innovation diffusion process: an epidemic modeling approach. European Journal of Innovation Management. 6(2), pp.80-89.
- Hughes, D., Lee, A., Tian, A. W., Newman, A. and Legood, A. (2018). Leadership, creativity, and innovation: A critical review and practical recommendations. The Leadership Quarterly, 29(5), pp. 549-569.

- Inauen, M. and Schenker-Wicki, A. (2011). The impact of outside-in open innovation on innovation performance. European Journal of Innovation Management, 14(4), pp.496-520.
- Jackson, S. E., Chuang, C., Harden, E. E., & Jiang, Y (2006). Toward developing human resource management systems for knowledgeintensive teamwork. In: Martocchio, J. J. (Ed.), Research in personnel and human resources management, vol. 25: pp. 27-70. Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.
- Jaussi, K. and Dionne, S. (2003). Leading for creativity: The role of unconventional leader behavior. The Leadership Quarterly, 14, pp.475-498.
- Jiang, Y. and Chen, C. (2016). Integrating Knowledge Activities for Team Innovation: Effects of Transformational Leadership. Journal of Management. 44(5), pp.1819-1847.
- Johannessen, J. and Stokvik, H. (2018). Evidence-based innovation leadership: creating entrepreneurship and innovation in organizations. UK: Emerald.
- Johnson, Steven (2011). Where Good Ideas Come From: The Seven Patterns of Innovation. London: Penguin.
- Kamasak, R., Yavuz, M., and Altuntas, G. (2016). Is the relationship between innovation performance and knowledge management contingent on environmental dynamism and learning capability? Evidence from a turbulent market. Business Research, 9(2), pp.229-253.
- Kozlowski, W. and Yamin, S. (2010). Mapping organisational innovation multidisciplinary perspective. International Journal of Business Excellence, 3(3) pp.303-326.
- Leiponen, A. and Helfat, C. E. (2010). Innovation Objectives, Knowledge Sources, and the Benefits of Breadth. Strategic Management, 31(2), pp. 224–236.
- Lorenzo, R., Voigt, N., Tsusaka, M., Krentz, M., and Abouzahr, K. (2018). How Diverse Leadership Teams Boost Innovation. The Boston Consulting Group.
- Lukoschek, C. S., Gerlach, G., Stock, R. M. and Xin, K. (2018). Leading to sustainable organizational unit performance: Antecedents and outcomes of executives' dual innovation leadership. Journal of Business Research, 91, pp.266-276.
- Mainemelis, C., Kark, R., and Epitropaki, O., (2015). Creative Leadership: A Multi-Context Conceptualization. The Academy of Management Annuals, 9(1), pp.393-482.
- Makri, M. and Scandura, T. A. (2010). Exploring the effects of creative CEO leadership on innovation in high-technology firms. The Leadership Quarterly, 21(1), pp.75-88.
- March, J. G (1991). Exploration and Exploitation in Organizational Learning. Organization Science.
- Martin, R., Guillaume, Y., Thomas, G., Lee, A. and Epitropaki, O. (2015) Leader-Member Exchange (LMX) and Performance: A Meta-Analytic Review. Personnel Psychology, 69(1). pp.67-121.
- Miles, R. E. (2007). Innovation and Leadership Values. California Management Review, University of California: Hass School of Business, 50(1).
- Mumford, M., Scott, G., Gaddis, B., and Strange, J. (2002). Leading creative people: Orchestrating expertise and relationships. The Leadership Quarterly, 13, pp.705-750.
- Pisano, Gary P. 2019. The Hard Truth About Innovative Cultures. HBR.
- Pontikes, E. G. and Barnett, W. (2017). The Coevolution of Organizational Knowledge and Market Technology. Strategy Science, 2(1), pp. 64-82.
- Prasad, B. et al. (2016). CEO transformational and transactional leadership and organizational innovation: The moderating role of environmental dynamism. Management Decision. 54(7).
- Pryce-Jones, Jessica (2010). Happiness at work: Maximizing your psychological capital for success. London: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Robinson, Sionade (2019). How to choose the best crew for a voyage of discovery. Available from: https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/choose-best-crew-voyage-discovery-sionade-robinson-ph-d/
- Roper, S. and Love, J. (2017). Knowledge context, learning and innovation: an integrating framework. Knowledge Dynamics, Innovation and Learning. 25(4), pp.339-364.
- Rosing, K., Frese, M., and Bausch, A. (2011). Explaining the heterogeneity of the leadership-innovation relationship: Ambidextrous leadership. The Leadership Quarterly, 22(5), pp.956-974.
- Shalley, C. E. & Gilson, L. (2004). What leaders need to know: A review of social and contextual factors that can foster or hinder creativity. The Leadership Quarterly,15(1), pp.33-53.
- Stasser, G., Abele, S., Parsons, S., Tindale, R., & Kerr, N. (2012). Information flow and influence in collective choice. Group Processes & Intergroup Relations, 15(5), pp. 619-635.
- Tarde, G. and Clews Parsons, E. (1903). The Laws of Imitation. New York: Henry Holt and Company.
- Weick, K. E. (1995). Sensemaking in Organizations. Sage Publications.
- Yang, J. (2005). Knowledge integration and innovation: securing new product advantage in high technology industry. The Journal of High Technology Management Research. 16(1), pp.121-135.
- Zacher, H., & Rosing, K. (2015). Ambidextrous leadership and team innovation. Leadership & Organization Development Journal, 36(1), 54-68.
- Zelaya-Zamora, J. and Senoo, D. (2013). Synthesizing seeming incompatibilities to foster knowledge creation and innovation. Journal of Knowledge Management, 17(1), pp.106-122.

iOpener Institute for People and Performance is an international consultancy. We use the Science of Happiness at Work[™] to inspire and develop leaders to create environments where people achieve, learn, thrive and love to work.

WANT TO KNOW MORE?

Please contact: JORDAN GRAHAM

Head of Strategic Projects & Marketing iOpener Institute for People and Performance

jordan.graham@iopener.com +44 (0) 1865 517786